### CHEMICAL HERITAGE FOUNDATION

MICHAEL A. KELLY

Transcript of an Interview Conducted by

David C. Brock and Arthur Daemmrich

at

Pittsburgh Conference on Analytical Chemistry and Applied Spectroscopy New Orleans, Louisiana

19 March 2002

(With Subsequent Corrections and Additions)

#### CHEMICAL HERITAGE FOUNDATION Oral History Program FINAL RELEASE FORM

This document contains my understanding and agreement with Chemical Heritage Foundation with respect to my participation in a tape-recorded interview conducted by

David C. Brock and Arthur Daemmrich on 19 March 2002 . I have read the transcript supplied by Chemical Heritage Foundation.

- 1. The tapes, corrected transcript, photographs, and memorabilia (collectively called the "Work") will be maintained by Chemical Heritage Foundation and made available in accordance with general policies for research and other scholarly purposes.
- 2. I hereby grant, assign, and transfer to Chemical Heritage Foundation all right, title, and interest in the Work, including the literary rights and the copyright, except that I shall retain the right to copy, use, and publish the Work in part or in full until my death.
- 3. The manuscript may be read and the tape(s) heard by scholars approved by Chemical Heritage Foundation subject to the restrictions listed below. The scholar pledges not to quote from, cite, or reproduce by any means this material except with the written permission of Chemical Heritage Foundation.
- 4. I wish to place the conditions that I have checked below upon the use of this interview. I understand that Chemical Heritage Foundation will enforce my wishes until the time of my death, when any restrictions will be removed.

**Please check one:** 

#### No restrictions for access.

**NOTE:** Users citing this interview for purposes of publication are obliged under the terms of the Chemical Heritage Foundation Oral History Program to obtain permission from Chemical Heritage Foundation, Philadelphia, PA.

Semi-restricted access. (May view the Work. My permission required to quote, cite, or reproduce.)

•\_\_\_\_

b. \_

**Restricted access.** (My permission required to view the Work, quote, cite, or reproduce.)

This constitutes my entire and complete understanding.

(Signature) Michael A. Kelly (Date)

This interview has been designated as Free Access.

One may view, quote from, cite, or reproduce the oral history with the permission of CHF.

*Please note*: Users citing this interview for purposes of publication are obliged under the terms of the Chemical Heritage Foundation Oral History Program to credit CHF using the format below:

Michael A. Kelly, interview by David C. Brock and Arthur Daemmrich at the Pittsburgh Conference on Analytical Chemistry and Applied Spectroscopy, New Orleans, Louisiana, 19 March 2002 (Philadelphia: Chemical Heritage Foundation, Oral History Transcript # 0253).



Chemical Heritage Foundation Oral History Program 315 Chestnut Street Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19106



The Chemical Heritage Foundation (CHF) serves the community of the chemical and molecular sciences, and the wider public, by treasuring the past, educating the present, and inspiring the future. CHF maintains a world-class collection of materials that document the history and heritage of the chemical and molecular sciences, technologies, and industries; encourages research in CHF collections; and carries out a program of outreach and interpretation in order to advance an understanding of the role of the chemical and molecular sciences, technologies, and industries; and industries in shaping society.

## MICHAEL A. KELLY

1936	Born in Roswell, New Mexico on 14 December
	Education
1959	B.S., engineering, University of California at Los Angeles
1963	M.S.E.E, Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute
1968	Ph.D., nuclear physics, University of California at Berkeley
	Professional Experience
	Lawrence Livermore Laboratory
1964-1968	Electrical Engineer/Research Scientist
	Hewlett-Packard Company
1968-1971	Research Scientist
1971-1976	Research and Development Manager, ESCA
	Surface Science Laboratories
1976-1985	President
	Kevex Corporation
1985-1989	President and Chief Operating Officer
1000	Stanford University
1989-present	Consulting Professor, Department of Materials
	Science and Engineering

# Honors

1979	IR(100) Award for an imaging, photon counting detector
1982	IR(100) Award for a high spatial resolution XPS spectrometer
1986	Glenn T. Seaborg Laboratory Special Award for a soft x-ray window, Kevex
	Corporation
	American Physical Society, member
	American Vacuum Society, member
	Materials Research Society, member

#### ABSTRACT

Michael A. Kelly begins the interview with a discussion of his childhood and education. Growing up in Roswell, New Mexico, Kelly became interested in radio and television electronics at a young age. After high school, Kelly earned an ROTC scholarship at UCLA, and obtained his bachelor's degree in engineering from that University in 1959. He later earned his master's degree in electrical engineering from Brooklyn Polytechnic, and his Ph.D. in nuclear physics from the University of California at Berkeley. In 1968, Kelly began as a research scientist for the Hewlett-Packard Company [HP]. After three years, he was promoted to manager of R&D for electron spectroscopy for chemical analysis [ESCA]. While there, he developed and refined the first ESCA instruments for commercial use. Kelly left HP in 1976, and became the president of Surface Science Laboratories; a company that designed and marketed ESCA instrumentation. In 1988, Surface Science merged with the Kevex Corporation, and Kelly became the president and chief operating officer. He stay with Kevex for about a year, but when the company was bought-out by Thermo Vacuum Generators, Inc., Kelly took a teaching position at Stanford University. He currently teaches materials science at the University, and is working on some new analytical techniques. Kelly concludes the interview with a discussion of his impact on ESCA instrumentation, and the importance of innovation in society.

#### **INTERVIEWERS**

David C. Brock is Program Manager for Educational and Historical Services at the Chemical Heritage Foundation in Philadelphia. He is currently a Ph.D. candidate in the History Department, Program in the History of Science at Princeton University. In 1995, Mr. Brock received his M.A. in the History of Science from Princeton University and in 1992, he earned a M.Sc. in the Sociology of Scientific Knowledge from the University of Edinburgh.

Arthur Daemmrich is a policy analyst at the Chemical Heritage Foundation in Philadelphia. He holds a Ph.D. in Science and Technology Studies from Cornell University and has published on biotechnology policy and politics, the sociology of medicine, and pharmaceutical drug regulation. In his research, he brings long-range perspectives to bear on the analysis of globalization, risk, health, and environmental policy. Daemmrich has held fellowships from the Social Science Research Council/Berlin Program for Advanced German and European Studies, and the Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 Childhood and Education

Growing up in Roswell, New Mexico. Interest in radio and television repair in high school. Obtaining ROTC scholarship to attend UCLA. Earned master's degree at Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute. Working in the medical school with Marcel Verzeano. The University of California at Berkeley. Writing his dissertation.

#### 4 Career

Joining the Hewlett-Packard Company [HP] in 1968. Building an NMR box. Developing an atomic fluorescence spectrometer. Initial involvement with ESCA instrumentation. David A. Shirley. Attending PITTCON conferences.

#### 9 Reflections on Hewlett-Packard

HP's acquisition of the F&M Scientific Corporation. HP's work with GC/MS instruments. James L. Waters. Discussion of HP's gamble with ESCA technolgy. Kai Seigbahn's involvement with HP's ESCA program. Becoming engineering manager of ESCA project in 1971. Industrial clients of the ESCA instrument. The ESCA market.

#### 15 After HP

Working at Surface Science Laboratories. Surviving without HP's machine division. Marketing Surface Science products. Robert L. Cheney. Description of 1981 instrument. Merging with the Kevex Corporation.

#### 20 Conclusion

Current work at Stanford University. Reflections on the impact of ESCA during his career. Discussing the importance of innovation.

#### 23 Notes

24 Index

#### NOTES

- 1. M. Verzeano, R. Webb, M. A. Kelly, "Radio Control of Ventricular Rate in Cases of Heart Block," *Science* 128 (1958):432
- 2. Kai Manne Börje Siegbahn, *ESCA; Atomic, Molecular and Solid State Structure Studied by Means of Electron Spectroscopy* (Uppsala, Sweden: Almqvist & Wiksells, 1967).
- 3. Michael A. Kelly and C. E. Tyler, "A Second-Generation ESCA Spectrometer," *Hewlett-Packard Journal: Technical Information from the Laboratories of Hewlett-Packard Company* 24 (1973):2-14.

#### INDEX

### A

Alvarez, Luis W., 10 Atomic absorption spectroscopy [AA], 6-7 Atomic fluorescence spectrometer, 6-7, 9 elemental lamp, 7 sample mounting, 8 Atomic force microscopy, 17 Auger electron microscopy, 17 Avondale, Pennsylvania, 9

### B

Blood flow meter, 5 Brooklyn Navy Yard, 2 Brooklyn Polytechnic University, 3

## С

Charge-neutralization gun, 12 Cheney, Robert L. [Bob], 18-19 Cherry picker, 10

## D

Deoxyribonucleic acid [DNA], 21 Dow Chemical Company, 12

## E

E. I. DuPont de Nemours and Company, Inc., 14
Eastman Kodak Company, 12
Electrcardiogram [EKG], 6
electrodes, 6
silver chloride electrodes, 6
Electron spectroscopy for chemical analysis [ESCA], 7-9, 11-16, 18-22
Energy dispersive x-ray spectrometry [EDS], 19

## F

F&M Scientific Corporation, 9 Faraday rotation, 6 Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy [FTIR], 17

### G

Galilei, Galileo, 21 Gas chromatography [GC], 9, 14 Gas chromatography/mass spectrometry [GC/MS], 9

### H

Hammond, Don, 10
Hewlett-Packard Company [HP], 5-11, 13, 15-19, 22
machine shop, 6
manufacturing division, 7
marketing communications group, 11
scientific instruments division, 9, 13
applications lab, 13

### I

Inductively coupled plasma emission spectroscopy [ICP], 6 Insulators, 11

### K

Kelly, Michael A. dissertation, 4 engineering school, 2 father, 1-2 master's degree, 3 mother, 1 Kevex Corporation, 19

L

Listening posts, 3

## M

Maxwell, James C., 3 Maxwell's equation, 3 McPherson Instruments, Inc., 10, 13 Fourier spectral-analysis program, 14 UV/visible monochromator, 14 Microwave-scanning device, 20 Mississippi River, 1

### Ν

Namur, Belgium, 8 National Science Fair, 1 Navy Reserve Officer Training Corps [ROTC], 2 New Mexico State Science Fair, 1 Nuclear magnetic resonance [NMR], 4-6, 9

### Р

Pacemaker, 3 Palo Alto, California, 9, 17 Pittsburg Conference on Analytical Chemistry and Applied Spectroscopy [PITTCON], 8, 12 Pocket calculator, 10 Pollution monitoring, 6 Probe microscope, 20 Purdue University, 1, 8, 22

## Q

Quantum mechanics, 22

## R

Radio, 1-2 Roswell, New Mexico, 1

## S

Scanning force microscope, 20 Scanning tunneling microscopy [STM], 22 Secondary ion mass spectroscopy [SIMS], 17 Sharpen, Lee, 13 Shimadzu Scientific Instruments Corporation, 14 Shirley, David A., 8 Siegbahn, Hans, 21 Siegbahn, Kai M. B., 10, 14, 22 Silicon Valley, 17 Stanford University, 20-22 science department, 20 Superconducting magnets, 6 Surface Science Laboratories, 13, 17, 19 instrumentation, 18-19

## Т

Television [TV], 1-2 Thermo Vacuum Generators, Inc. [VG], 20 Transmission electron microscope [TEM], 21

## U

Union Carbide Corporation, 12 United States Navy, 2-3 University of California at Berkeley, 4, 8, 10 biophysics department, 4 physics department, 4 University of California at Los Angeles [UCLA], 2-3

### V

Vacuum chambers, 18 Vacuum-tube circuit, 3 Varian Associates, Inc., 4, 9, 13 Verziano, Marcel, 3

### W

Wall Street Journal, 20 Waltham, Massachusetts, 9 Waters, James L., 9 World War II, 2

# X

X-ray diffraction, 21 X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy [XPS], 21